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HISTORIC LANDMARK COMMISSION 

MARCH 25, 2019 

DEMOLITION AND RELOCATION PERMITS 

HDP-2019-0121 

5900 CAMERON ROAD 

 

PROPOSAL 

Demolish seven church buildings constructed between 1956 and 1974. 

 

ARCHITECTURE 

The property was mostly developed around a central courtyard. See site map on p. 4 for 

building locations. 

 

The Church Building (1956) is located at the middle of the property, facing Cameron Road. 

It is a two-story, rectangular-plan brick masonry building with a gable roof, 2:2 aluminum-

sash windows, and minimal ornamentation (stone sills and quoining). 

 

The Education Building (1962, addition in 1966) is located on the northeast side of the 

property. The 1962 building and 1966 addition comprise a one-story, rectangular-plan 

building with a flat roof, deep eaves, and brick wing walls separating bays with fixed 

aluminum-sash windows. Windows in the 1962 building are placed over terrazzo panels or 

vertical wood siding, while those in the 1966 addition are full-height. 

 

The Sanctuary (1967) is a tall one-story building with a flat-topped gable roof, steeple, brick 

cladding at the front and vertical wood cladding at the rear, and brick colonnade walkways 

on both sides. The building fronts on Cameron Road and is connected to the Education 

Building with a low flat-roofed hyphen. This hyphen contains the primary entrance to the 

Sanctuary, paired fully glazed doors accessed from Clayton Lane. 

 

The Classroom Building (1972) is located on the north edge of the property. It is a one-story 

rectangular-plan building with a flat roof, brick and vertical wood cladding, brick wing 

walls dividing inset structural bays, and fixed wood- or metal-sash windows. The Classroom 

Building is connected to the Education Building & Sanctuary by a covered walkway. 

 

The Auditorium & Music Center (1974) is located at the west edge of the property. It is a 

double-height rectangular-plan building with a flat roof and concrete panel cladding with 

strong vertical divisions. Concrete awnings are located over paired fully glazed doors at 

entrances on the north, east, and west elevations. 

 

A simple one-story wood-frame building constructed for use as classrooms is located 

between the Classroom Building and Auditorium & Music Center. It has a side-gabled roof, 

wood cladding, and 1:1 aluminum-sash windows. 

 

The Annex is located at the south end of the property, separate from the other buildings. It 

is a one-story U-plan building with a cross-gabled roof, brick cladding, and aluminum-sash 

windows. Its construction date is unknown, as City permit records do not include a building 

permit. 
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RESEARCH 

Windsor Park Baptist Church was formed in 1955 and completed its first building on the 

property, a church auditorium, in 1956. Most new construction expanded classroom space; 

four permanent buildings and one temporary building were dedicated to education between 

1959 and 1972. The most prominent building on the property, a sanctuary at the corner of 

Cameron Road and Clayton Lane, was constructed in 1967. An Auditorium & Music Center 

was built in 1974. 

 

Mt. Sinai Baptist Church moved onto the property in 1994. 

 

STAFF COMMENTS 

The property does not appear to meet the criteria for designation as a historic landmark. 

 

Designation Criteria—Historic Landmark 
1) At least four of the seven buildings are more than 50 years old. The construction 

date of the Annex is not known. 

2) The buildings appear to retain a high degree of integrity, though their setting has 

changed as the property developed over time. 

3) Properties must meet two significance criteria for landmark designation (City of 

Austin Land Development Code, Section 25-2-352). The property does not appear to 

meet two criteria. 

a. Architecture. The Education Building (1962, 1966) is designed in the Mid-

Century Modern style, with deep eaves supported by prominent beams, 

though Austin has many churches that provide examples of Mid-Century 

architecture in full complexes. Earl Dillard designed the original building, 

and there is at least one less crowded example of his Mid-Century Modern 

work (the Recreation Department/PARD offices). The other buildings do not 

appear to possess architectural distinction. 

b. Historical association. Windsor Park Baptist Church constructed all 

buildings and occupied the site for nearly 40 years. There do not appear to be 

significant historical associations. 

c. Archaeology. The property was not evaluated for its potential to yield 

significant data concerning the human history or prehistory of the region. 

d. Community value. The property does not appear to have a unique location, 

physical characteristic, or significant feature that contributes to the 

character, image, or cultural identity of the city, a neighborhood, or a 

particular group. Newspaper records show some revivals at the Windsor Park 

Baptist Church, but the congregation does not appear to have been notably 

active in the community. 

e. Landscape feature. The property is not a significant natural or designed 

landscape with artistic, aesthetic, cultural, or historical value to the city. 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Approve the demolition application, subject to completion of a City of Austin 

Documentation Package, consisting of photographs of all elevations, a dimensioned sketch 

plan, and a narrative history, for archiving at the Austin History Center. 
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LOCATION MAP 
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PROPERTY INFORMATION 

Site Map 
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Photos 

Photos provided by applicant. 

 
Church Building (1956), from Cameron Road. The Auditorium & Music Center (1974) is visible in the 
rear. 
 

 
 

 
Education Building (1962), looking north from playground (top) and south from Clayton Lane 
(bottom). The Sanctuary is in the background and the Classroom Building on the right. 
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Education Building (1966 addition), looking north from courtyard. 
 

 
Sanctuary (1967), from Cameron Road. 
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Temporary Building (1968), looking northwest from courtyard. The Classroom Building is on the left 
and Auditorium & Music Center on the right. 
 

 
 

 
Classroom Building (1972), looking northwest from courtyard (top) and south from parking lot 
(bottom). The Temporary Building is on the left. 
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Auditorium & Music Center (1974), looking south from courtyard (top) and west from the rear 
parking lot (bottom). 
 

 
Annex (date unknown), from Cameron Road. 
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Occupancy History 

Completed by Historic Preservation Office staff 

March 2019 

 

1956-94 Windsor Park Baptist Church 

 

1994- Mt. Sinai Baptist Church 

 

 

Background Research 

Windsor Park Baptist Church was formed in 1955. It began meeting at a temporary 

location at 5321 Cameron Road and simultaneously purchased three acres at 5900 Cameron 

Road. The congregation’s first building on the property was a brick Church Building 

completed in 1956 at a cost of $50,000; the first services were held there on Easter morning 

that year. A modern Sanctuary was constructed in 1967 for $175,000.  

 

Most of the changes on the property have been to expand classroom space. In 1959, a 

building was moved onto the lot from Bergstrom Air Force Base for Sunday school use; this 

building was demolished around 1966, according to site plans. In 1962, an Education 

Building was designed by Earl Dillard and constructed by A. W. Bryant for just under 

$43,000.  

 

In 1964, the church began offering a second worship service, indicating increased 

attendance. Improvements soon followed: An addition to the Education Building was 

constructed in 1966 for $34,000 to hold additional classrooms. A second, very simple 

building with classroom space was constructed in 1968 for $14,000. In 1972, a third 

separate Classroom Building was constructed for $65,000. 

 

The newest building on the property is an Auditorium and Music Center built in 1974 for 

$300,000, an amount financed through bond sales. L. O. Bentley & Associates was the 

contractor. 

 

Mt. Sinai Baptist Church moved onto the property in 1994, well after the historic period 

ended. 

 

Earl Dillard designed the Education Building (1962). Dillard was a local architect active in 

the mid-1950s through the mid-1960s. He designed the Texas Industrial Loan Company 

Building (1955; now Star Bar), new offices for the Recreation Department (1958, now the 

Parks and Recreation Department), a bowling alley (1958), a credit union (1963), and a new 

auditorium for the Congress Avenue Baptist Church (1965-66). 
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“New Baptist Church begins,” The Austin American,11/20/1955. 

 

 
“New auditorium services slated,” The Austin Statesman,3/30/1956. 

 

   
“Baptists okay sale of bonds,” The Austin Statesman,10/13/1973. 
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Building Permits 

 
Building permit issued to Windsor Park Baptist Church for a brick church building, 1/5/1956. 
 

 
Relocation permit issued to Windsor Park Baptist Church to move a building onto the property, 
3/12/1959. It is likely that this was an L-shaped building roughly at the location of the Auditorium & 
Music Center; it is shown on other permit applications. The building was demolished around 1966. 
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Building permit issued to Windsor Park Baptist Church for a wood-frame educational building, 
8/2/1962. 
 

 
Building permit issued to Windsor Park Baptist Church for a wood-frame addition to the Education 
Building, 11/28/1966. 
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Building permit issued to Windsor Park Baptist Church for a one-story wood-frame building to be 
used for classrooms, 2/27/1968. 
 

 
Building permit issued to Windsor Park Baptist Church for interior remodeling, likely to the Church 
Building or the Education Building, 3/12/1968. 
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Building permit issued to Windsor Park Baptist Church for a one-story masonry building to be used 
as a church sanctuary, 3/22/1967. 
 

 
Building permit issued to Windsor Park Baptist Church for a one-story masonry and wood-frame 
addition to be used as classrooms, 1/24/1972. This is most likely the Classroom Building. 
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Building permit issued to Windsor Park Baptist Church for a one- and two-story Auditorium and 
Music Center, 6/7/1974. 
 
City records indicate that an addition was constructed in 1987 for “church & day school rooms.” It is 

not clear what building received the addition. 


